## **Intimate Partner Violence Assessment Program Evaluation**

Susanna Pruangkarn, MSN, APRN, AGACNP-BC

University of Virginia

9600

DNP Project Team: Dr. Clareen Wiencek, RN, PhD, ACNP, ACHPN, FAAN; Dr. Richard

Westphal, PhD, RN, PMHCNS/NP-BC, FAAN Director; Elizabeth Horton, MPH

April 19, 2022

#### Abstract

Intimate partner violence (IPV) refers to the violence or patterns of abusive behaviors between intimate partners with 17 % of men and 33 % of women experiencing IPV (Ahmed et al., 2017). Despite the prevalence of IPV in the general population, compliance with national standards for IPV screening is inconsistent. Surprisingly, only 66 % of hospitals across the US screen for IPV in their EDs (Delgado et al., 2011). The purpose of this project was to conduct a systematic program evaluation of the IPV screening program currently utilized in the ED of an academic medical center. This program evaluation led to nine recommendations that can improve the site's compliance (0.015 %) with hospital policy and TJC standards. Considering the sobering statistic that 50 % of women who died from IPV were seen by a provider a year before their death (Aboutanos et al., 2019), implementing the recommendations from this program evaluation and continuing annual audits of compliance with TJC standards has significant potential to consistently improve outcomes for the vulnerable population at risk of IPV.

# **Table of Contents**

Intimate Partner Violence Assessment Program Evaluation	5
Introduction and Background	5
Review of the Literature	10
Themes	
Theme 1: Face-to-Face Screening	13
Theme 2: Computer-Based Screening	15
Theme 3: Identification Through Injury Location and ED Presentation	17
Theme 4: Dual-Approach	
Theme 5: Education	
Publication Bias Check	
Limitations of the Review	
Institutional Assessment	
Design: Program Evaluation	
Formative Evaluation	
ACI Evaluation Cycle	
Step 1: Establishing an Evaluation Team	
Step 2: Planning	
Step 3: Program Logic	
Step 4 and 5: Evaluation Design and Data Plan	

Step 6 and 7: Implementation and communicating results			
Step 8: Incorporating Findings			
Summary and Conclusion			
Appendix A	611		
Appendix B	74		

# Intimate Partner Violence Assessment Program Evaluation

## **Introduction and Background**

Intimate partner violence (IPV) refers to the violence or patterns of abusive behaviors between intimate partners with 17 % of men and 33 % of women experiencing IPV (Ahmed et al., 2017). IPV can occur in heterosexual relationships as well as homosexual relationships and women can be the perpetrators of IPV, not just men. Several terms are used to describe IPV such as domestic violence, and wife battery, but IPV is the most current term.

Nurses in the emergency department (ED) play a critical role in the identification, prevention, and management of IPV. Health care professionals in the ED have a unique opportunity to screen for IPV and competence in assessing the needs of the patient can significantly impact the rates of disclosure. Assault in the patient's home was the strongest indicator of IPV-related assault (Yau et al., 2013). Furthermore, head, neck, and face injuries were present in almost half of the patients that screened positive for IPV and patients with such injuries were more likely to report IPV-related injuries than those with injuries to other body regions (Perciaccante & Carey, et al., 2010). Fifty-four percent of women that report to the ED have experienced IPV at some points in their lives with only 5 % of these women identified by health care professionals (Ahmad et al., 2017). One in 20 men that present to the ED are IPV survivors, and one out of seven trauma patients are men that screen positive for IPV (Zakrison et al., 2018).

Despite the prevalence of IPV in the general population, compliance with national standards for IPV screening is inconsistent and identified barriers to compliance with IPV screening include lack of standardized IPV detection training for ED staff, lack of consistency in screening methods and frequency (Hugl-Wajek et al., 2012), discomfort with IPV, perceived

5

victim responsibility, lack of time, and expected futility of intervention (Perciaccante, & Susarla, et al., 2010). Additional barriers include high volume of patients, overburdened staff, time allocation, and the challenge of establishing rapport and trust with patients that have experienced such trauma as IPV. Furthermore, the gender of the healthcare professional conducting the screening may determine if the patient is comfortable in disclosing IPV (Ahmad et al., 2017). Of all the barriers identified, lack of education regarding IPV screening was the most common (Chapin et al., 2011, Hugl-Wajek et al., 2012, Robinson, 2010). The most concerning aspect of these barriers to IPV screening is the risk for future fatal injuries due to ineffective identification of patients at risk. Tragically, 50 % of victims killed by IPV had been seen by a health care provider one year before their death (Aboutanos et al., 2019).

There are several implications for the systematic improvement of the quality of IPV programs to enhance screening. Only 66 % of hospitals across the US screen for IPV in their EDs (Delgado et al., 2011). An identified problem is decreased awareness of the importance of IPV screening and the positive impact nurses can have on IPV identification. One study found that positive IPV screens increased the most when screening efforts were championed by nurse leaders (Scribano et al., 2011).

Ahmad and colleagues reviewed 29 empirical studies conducted between the years of 2000–2015 that explored screening interventions used in the ED to identify IPV victims and survivors. Studies were conducted in the USA, Australia, Canada, Iceland, New Zealand, and the United Kingdom. Due to 24-hour availability, the ED is a useful place for IPV to be screened and identified (Houry et al., 2008; Ahmad et al., 2017). IPV screening can help identify IPV which can help reduce fatal consequences of IPV such as suicide or homicide. Some healthcare professionals fear unintended consequences or harm to the victim due to IPV screening,

however, evidence supporting harm from IPV screening is scarce (Houry et al., 2008; MacMillan et al. 2006; Ahmad et al., 2017). In fact, IPV screening can help reduce abuse, and improve social and clinical outcomes for the IPV victim (Bair-Merritt et al., 2014; Taft et al., 2013; Ahmad et al., 2017).

Of all the women presenting to the ED, evidence suggests about 54 % have experienced IPV in their lifetime (Abbott et al., 1995; Ahmad et al., 2017), however, only 5 % were identified by healthcare professionals (McGarry & Nairn, 2015; Ahmad et al., 2017) with many victims remaining unnoticed (Corbally, 2001; McGarry & Nairn, 2015; Ahmad et al., 2017). The major finding was that universal or routine screening of IPV resulted in higher rates of identification and this led to interventions to reduce IPV experiences of those screened. However, these studies showed that some providers screen all patients, whereas other providers screen selectively. Overcrowding, reduced preparedness, reduced confidence, and lack of time have been listed as some obstacles to screening, detection and supporting IPV victims in the ED setting (Hugl-Wajek et al., 2012, Gutmanis et al., 2007, Gerbert et al., 2002; Ahmad et al., 2017).

Assault in the patient's home was the strongest indicator of IPV-related assault (Yau et al., 2013). Since the start of the COVID pandemic quarantine in March 2020, people were encouraged to stay home. Sadly, nine major metropolitan cities in the United States reported a 20 to 30 percent increase in domestic violence calls (Kofman and Garfin, 2020). Yet, data from national domestic violence hotlines are mixed with some hotlines showing an uptick in calls and others showing a decrease in calls, both of which can tell an unsettling story. With their violent partners in proximity some victims may find it nearly impossible to utilize hotlines.

The Joint Commission (TJC) requires hospitals to have policies for the identification, evaluation, management, early identification, and referral of patients that are victims of IPV

(Burnett, 2018). Despite this TJC mandate, however, not all hospitals are compliant (Perciaccante, & Carey, et al., 2010). A national survey of 348 randomly selected from a total of 4,874 EDs in the United States reported that one in three hospitals are not meeting TJC mandates for IPV screening (Delgado et al., 2011). Though this survey was conducted in 2011, no recent study was found that shows a more consistent compliance with the TJC standard for IPV screening.

Thirty-three different tools exist for IPV screening (Ahmad et al., 2017). However, few of the tools have been validated and the sensitivity and specificity are quite varied. The results in the studies reviewed by Ahmad et al were not conclusive about the effectiveness of universal IPV screening or that IPV screenings increase the rate of referrals to agencies.

Some of the more commonly used screening tools for IPV include Hurt, Insult, Threaten, and Scream (HITS) (Zakrison et al., 2018), Partner Violence Screen (PVS), and Woman Abuse Screening Tool (WAST) (Perciaccante, & Susarla, et al., 2010), and the Humiliation, Afraid, Rape, Kick (HARK) (Sohal et al., 2007). The HITS tool is used at the author's practice site.

The HITS tool is recommended by the CDC and the American College of Surgeons (ACS) Trauma Quality Programs (TQP) Best Practices Guidelines for IPV screening and prevention (Bonne et al., 2019). The HITS screening tool has been tested in emergency room populations, is validated for use in men, has good internal consistency and construct validity (Zakrison et al., 2018). For women the sensitivity ranges from 86 %-96 % and specificity ranges from 91 %-99 %, for men the sensitivity is 88 % and specificity is 97 % (Basile et al., 2007).

Often, social workers complete the HITS tool or consult on the patient once the tool is completed by a nurse. Social workers may offer community resources to patients based on their HITS score (1 = never, 2 = rarely, 3 = sometimes, 4 = fairly-often, 5 = frequently). HITS scores range from 5 to 20 and scores of ten or greater in females and 11 or greater in males are classified as being victimized.

The tool uses a Likert scale of never (1) to frequently (5) in response to these four questions (Basile et al., 2007, p 42):

- 1. How often does your partner physically hurt you?
- 2. How often does your partner insult or talk down to you?
- 3. How often does your partner threaten you with physical harm?
- 4. How often does you partner scream or curse at you?

The practice site of this author, an academic medical center in the mid-Atlantic states, is a 70-bed level-one trauma center averaging sixty thousand patients seen per year (UVA Health, 2020). This ED implemented the HITS screening tool in early 2021, but the current compliance to the TJC standard or to organizational policy is unknown. However, anecdotal evidence suggests that while nurses have been charged with screening for IPV, screening for IPV is inconsistent. In early 2021, a new IPV screening program was launched that charged social workers with the task of administering the HITS screening tool. The primary assessment remained the responsibility of the ED nurse.

Due to the prevalence of IPV and the potential impact of IPV on a patient's safety and quality of life, and the evidence that supports the consistent use of a tool and program that standardizes screening for IPV, the purpose of this DNP scholarly project was to conduct a systematic program evaluation of the IPV screening program currently in use in the ED in an academic medical center.

#### **Review of the Literature**

A literature review was conducted to determine the best evidence regarding the use of IPV screening in the ED setting to enhance referrals to available community resources. Five databases were searched: Web of Science, PubMed, Cumulative Index of Nursing and Allied Health Literature (CINAHL), the Cochrane Library, and PsycInfo. The Cochrane Library search yielded 1 Cochrane review which was a duplicate and 41 trials which were either outside the assigned year range or were duplicates. Reference management software was used to merge duplicates.

In the Web of Science topic search, a string search was performed with the following string: ("Intimate partner violence") AND ("mass screening" OR screening) AND ("emergency service", hospital OR "emergency room" OR "emergency department"). A yield of 113 articles was obtained.

In PubMed, a string search was performed with the following string: ("Intimate partner violence"[MeSH] OR "Intimate Partner Violence"[TIAB]) AND ("mass screening"[MeSH] OR screening[TIAB]) AND ("emergency service, hospital"[MESH] OR "emergency room"[TIAB] OR "emergency department"[TIAB]). By limiting the search from the years 2010 to 2021, 88 results were yielded. The mesh terms were indicated as [MeSH] in the search. Title in abstracts were searched and indicated as [TIAB].

A stepwise advanced search in CINAHL was performed with these limits: academic journals, English language, and publication years 2010 to 2021 resulting in 77 articles. The acronym MH indicates that a subject heading has been searched. Search 1: (MH "Intimate Partner Violence") OR "Intimate partner violence", search 2: (MH "Health Screening") OR

"screening", search 3: (MH "Emergency Service") OR "emergency department" and search 4: "Emergency room" were searched as keywords.

In the PsycInfo topic search, a string search was performed with the following string: *"intimate partner violence"* AND *Screening* AND *("emergency department"* OR *"emergency room"*) yielding 26 articles. The Cochrane Library was also searched. Within the title abstract keyword search bar, a string search was performed with the following string: *("Intimate partner violence")* AND *("mass screening"* OR *screening)* AND *("emergency service", hospital* OR *"emergency room"* OR *"emergency department"*) which yielded 1 Cochrane Review and 41 trials. However, after perusing the titles, many of them were duplicates of other searches, were outside the year limitation or 2010-2021, or were not US trials. Therefore, the Cochrane Library database search was not included in the final analysis.

The total number of articles from all four databases was 304 and 179 articles remained after removing duplicates. Articles were then excluded for the following reasons: non-US studies (44), letter to the editor, book, or paper (6), not the adult population and/or the population was specific to one group (49), outside the ED setting (8), quality improvement articles or were not research driven (10), no screening focus (11), no intimate partner violence focus (15), and, lastly, articles were already included in a systematic review (5). Refer to Figure 1 for application of exclusion rationales during title and abstract and full-text articles screen. A total of 21 articles were retained in the final pool for analysis. Figure 1 is a Prisma diagram of the literature search.

## Figure 1

Article Flow Diagram (Modified PRISMA Flow Diagram)



The evidence level and quality of the items retained from the search as shown in appendix A, were evaluated using the Johns Hopkins Nursing Evidence-Based Practice criteria (Dang & Dearholt, 2017). Seven of the 21 studies were level II studies (Chapin et al., 2011; DiVietro et al., 2018; Hugl-Wajek et al., 2012; Rhodes et al., 2011; Schrager et al., 2013; Scribano et al., 2011; Wolff et al., 2017). Six of the seven level II studies were high (A) quality, except the study by Hugl-Wajek et al. (2012), which was good quality (B). The remaining 14 studies were level III which included a systematic review, (Choo, & Ranney et al., 2012), which received a level III because the lowest level of evidence within the systematic review was a level III. All the level III articles were of high (A) or good (B) quality with most being high quality. Most of the studies within this review of literature were quantitative except for Williams, et al. (2016) and Choo et al. (2015), which were both qualitative.

#### Themes

Considering that the levels of evidence were all a level II and III, a thematic analysis was performed. Five themes emerged: Face-to-face screening, computer-based screening, identification through ED presentation and injury location, dual approach to IPV identification such as combining methods, and education.

#### Theme 1: Face-to-Face Screening

Face-to-face screening is a method in which the provider, or a staff member verbally delivers screening questions face-to-face as opposed to the written word or via a computer (Williams et al., 2016). IPV screening must be done with no family present and removing law enforcement from the room is recommended (Rodriguez, 2019). Several face-to-face IPV screening tools were identified, however, no one screening tool was more effective than another. Some of the face-to-face IPV screening tools include: The "Five Steps in Screening for IPV"

instrument which incorporates the HITS screening tool (Bazargan-Hejazi et al., 2014), the Partner Violence Scale (PVS) (Wolff et al., 2017) and the HITS screening tool (Zakrison et al., 2018).

A cross-sectional study completed by Bazargan-Hejazi et al. (2014) included 412 participants admitted to a large west coast inner city teaching hospital in 2001 with the aim to examine differences between those that experienced IPV and those that did not experience IPV. The study used the "Five Steps in Screening for IPV" tool and aimed to investigate difference between four groups: Those that commit IPV (perpetrators), victims of IPV, those involved in mutual violence (reactors), and those with no involvement in IPV either as a victim or perpetrator (pacifist). Of the 16 % of the sample that experienced IPV, 20 % were victims, 31 % were perpetrators, and 49 % were reactors with pushing, shoving, and grabbing being the most frequently reported acts. There was a significant relationship between drug use and the four IPV profiles (p = 0.0005) with over 40 % of perpetrators and reactors reporting drug use compared to < 22 % of pacifists and victims. Those who experience IPV had higher Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) mean scores (p < 0.01) and impulsivity mean scores (p < 0.01). Limitations to this study include the inability to generalize based on the small sample size of the IPV population, exploration of gender differences was limited, and data for this study was collected in 2001.

The use of the PVS as a face-to-face screening tool for patients with low literacy rates was examined by Wolff et al. (2017). Using a quasi-experimental design, they enrolled patents presenting to an urban ED between 2013–2014 to determine if basic or enhanced referral would be more effective in connecting victims of IPV with behavioral health resources. The basic referral group (control group) received a brochure of behavioral health resources while the

enhanced referral group (intervention group) received a brochure, psychoeducational information about IPV and mental health problems, and assistance scheduling appointments. Participants in the enhanced referral group were more likely to have a successful referral than the participants in the basic referral group (p < 0.001).

The PVS tool had a sensitivity score of 71 % and a specificity score of 84 %, however, there is limited demonstration of the reliability of this measure. An additional limitation of the PVS tool is it does not screen for psychological abuse, which could result in failure to identify at risk patients, but it is more appropriate to patients with low literacy rates to participate in the screening process.

The two IPV screening tools, HITS, and the Screen, Ask, Validate, and Evaluate (SAVE) were compared in an observational cohort study by Zakrison et al. (2018) conducted from March 2015 to April 2016 at four level 1 trauma centers with the aim to perform a subgroup analysis of male IPV victims. This study focused on intimate partner sexual violence (IPSV) and IPV, therefore, in addition to the HITS screening tool to screen for IPV, the SAVE screening tool was used. IPV screening was done mostly by clinical social workers but did include behavioral psychologists or trauma registered nurses (RN). The investigators found that dedicated behavioral therapists performed the most IPV screens and male subjects had the highest positive IPVS screening rate (p = 0.000831). A major limitation of the Zakrison et al. (2018) study was that variability depended on who performed the screening, what patients were screened for, and where the screening took place.

#### **Theme 2: Computer-Based Screening**

The second theme identified was computer-based screening as a strategy to overcome the barrier of limited personnel to conduct to face-to-face screenings (Choo, & Ranney, et al., 2012).

Computer-based screening allows patients to answer IPV screening questions on designated computers at their own pace, providing privacy and anonymity, and requires little to no clinician involvement. The computer-based screening tools included: WAST (Choo et al., 2015), Conflict Tactics Scale-2 (DiVietro et al., 2018), and Universal Violence Prevention Screening Protocol (UVPSP) (Schrager et al., 2013). Computer-based screening technologies showed high feasibility and acceptability with few negative consequences, although, there was no emphasis placed on one screening tool, but rather on the method of delivery (Choo, Nicolaidis, et al., 2012).

A qualitative study conducted by Choo et al. (2015) studied seventeen women with recent histories of IPV and drug abuse who were recruited from an urban ED with the aim to explore their attitudes about the use of computers in screening for IPV. Female patients reported feeling more comfortable using the computer-based screening method as it was easier, safer, and could shield them from embarrassment and fear. The limitations of this study were that a convenience sample was used, and findings may not be generalizable to rural women because urban women were utilized in the study. Kiosk-based screening using the Universal Violence Prevention Screening Protocol (UVPSP) and referral tools helped at-risk women that presented to the ED and was associated with a high proportion of participants taking protective action against their abuser (Schrager et al., 2013). Additionally, kiosk screening stations have been shown to be an effective and safe way to deliver information about IPV. Another limitation of this study was the random sampling of women in the triage area.

A prospective randomized control trial by Scribano et al. (2011), was conducted in an urban pediatric ED with an annual census of 91,864 aimed to evaluate the feasibility of caregiver-initiated computerized screening. Between October 2008 to December 2009, 13,057 (14%) computer screens were conducted and of the 14% of participants who completed the screens, 13.7% had a positive IPV screening rate. Interestingly, the number of participants who completed the IPV screening increased to 32% when nurse leaders championed the screening efforts. The study found that computerized-based IPV screening kiosks were effective in a pediatric ED, however, IPV screening rates were not provided prior to the implementation of the computerized IPV screenings. A limitation of this study is the screening questions were presented at a sixth and seventh grade reading level which may prevent patients with lower literacy rates from participating. To combat this, research assistants were made available to facilitate screening. A strength of this study is ED social workers were automatically paged and received printouts of the responses of patients that screened positive, and the reliability of the technology was high.

#### **Theme 3: Identification Through Injury Location and ED Presentation**

Additional barriers to IPV screening include time constraints, futility of intervention, and discomfort with IPV (Perciaccante, & Carey, et al., 2010). The third theme, identification of IPV through injury location and identifying at risk patients based on how they are brought into the ED, has been studied as a possible intervention to overcome this barrier. Women that present to the ED with head, neck, and face injuries were 7.5 to 11.8 times more likely to report IPV than women that report injuries in different locations. Furthermore, a retrospective study by Rhodes et al. (2011), examined IPV related police events and ED visits from 1999 to 2002 within 12 police jurisdictions and 8 EDs in a semi-rural midwest county. The study found that the odds that IPV would be identified doubled if victims were brought to the ED by the police. The limitation of this study is that it was done in one region of the country and therefore, may not be generalizable.

Trauma recidivism is associated with positive IPV screens (Wolff et al., 2017; Zakrison et al., 2017). A retrospective ED chart review situated in an ED in New York City aimed to inform guidance on identification of IPV in EDs by comparing distinguishing characteristics of IPV-related assaults to non-IPV-related assaults. This study by Yau et al. (2013) found that of 14,990 assault victims treated in EDs from 2000 to 2007, 63.2 % were men, and 36.8 % were women. Among the women assaulted, 27.7 % were IPV victims and 23.2 % were assaulted at home (adjusted odds ratio (AOR) of 12.8 %, 95 % confidence interval (CI) 8.5–19.1). Furthermore, women with sustained head injuries had higher odds of IPV victimization (AOR 1.6, 95 % CI 0–2.5). Among the men, 4.7 % were IPV victims and 6.8 % were assaulted at home with the odds of IPV victimization being higher for assaults occurring in the home (AOR 25.9, 95 % CI 12.1-55.8). These findings suggest a strong indicator of IPV-related assault was assault in the victim's home. Additionally, this study highlighted that directed probing for assault incident characteristics may turn out to be an effective, efficient method for the busy ED provider to identify IPV. This method of identification, however, should complement ED screening practices, not replace them. The limitation of this study is the incomplete or missing data in this retrospective chart review. IPV identification through injury location is recommended to be used in combination with IPV screening tools as discussed in the dualapproach theme section.

#### **Theme 4: Dual-Approach**

Several studies discussed dual methods to screen for IPV. Dual methods merge different combinations of screening tools or methods such as computerized screening tools with face-toface screening, or combined injury location with face-to-face screening tools, etc. In an epidemiologic study done in the Northeast in a level one trauma center that admits 2000 patients, 250 patients were enrolled into the study from May 2015 to July 2017 to determine the feasibility of a dual method screening approach. The participants were assessed for IPV using a touch screen device using the Conflict Tactics Scale-2 computerized screening tool followed by a face-to-face assessment with the HITS (DiVietro et al., 2018). This dual approach combined the benefits of computerized assessment with the rapport-building and flexibility of the in-person, face-to-face, interview-based screening. The use of the dual method produced the highest number of IPV positive screens; a total of 44 women (50.6 %) and 58 men (35.6 %) screened positive for IPV with either the tablet or face-to-face screen. The limitation of this dual approach is the process can take up to 20 minutes of the patient's time to administer both tools.

The cross-sectional study by Perciaccante & Carey, et al. (2010), presented another dual approach which combined the use of the face-to-face PVS or the WAST with injury location such as head, neck, or face injuries. This combination was a better predictor of IPV detection than either modality alone. The study, performed in a level 1 trauma center in the south from April to August 2001, reported that even though, the WAST tool had superior sensitivity to the PVS tool, the WAST tool had the poorest specificity compared to the PVS tool. However, with the addition of the injury location, the specificity increased. WAST plus injury location was superior to the PVS screening tool plus injury location due to the highest sensitivity and specificity. The limitation of this study was the predominance of African Americans in the sample impacting self-reporting rates and generalizability.

In a separate cross-sectional study that used the same population, the WAST screening tool and injury location dual approach was shown to be effective to the same population as a protocol in a level 1 trauma center in the south from April to August 2001 (Perciaccante, &

Susarla, et al., 2010). The limitation of this study was the large African American sample, which can reduce the ability to generalize to other populations.

#### **Theme 5: Education**

Another barrier to IPV identification was the lack of education or experience in IPV screening among ED health care personnel (Hugl-Wajek et al., 2012). One phenomenological qualitative study conducted by Robinson (2010) in the south-central United States interviewed a total of 13 ED nurses. The study revealed that ED nurses could not recall any formal IPV education, most did not complete universal screening for IPV, and most reported that the victim would return to the abusive relationship regardless of the risk despite IPV screening. A limitation of this study was the small sample size. However, after receiving IPV training, participants in a quasi-experimental study were better informed about obstacles faced by victims in their attempt to leave abusive relationships, IPV screening tools, and IPV services (Chapin et al.,2011).

On the contrary, an epidemiologic, cross-sectional, observational study sampled 288 healthcare facilities in Florida from June 2014 to January 2015 with the aim to examine policies and procedures for identifying and responding to IPV. The study found that healthcare workers were requesting procedural guidance regarding IPV screening and requesting additional local resources and education for both the patients and the providers (Williams et al., 2016). The limitation of this study was that fidelity to the facilities' policies and procedures could not be determined. Another study found higher rates of positive IPV screens among patients who were interviewed by a trained domestic violence coordinator (Hugl-Wajek et al., 2012). Interestingly, one study found that out of four level 1 trauma centers in the US, the center that utilized a dedicated behavioral psychologist to perform IPV screenings had the highest rate of positive screens for both men and women (Zakrison et al., 2018).

A cross-sectional study by Randell et al. (2018) recruited a convenience sample from three acute care sites in a midwestern children's hospital system and enrolled 522 participants from April 2012 to September 2012 (pre-display) and October 2012 to November 2013 (postdisplay). The aim of this study was to determine the effect of IPV materials on the attitudes of caregivers toward IPV screening and the acceptability of the materials. The study found that any poster and pamphlet display, whether it displayed hope or displayed graphic images, did not impact a women's willingness to self-report IPV or answer IPV screening questions honestly. However, there was an increased proportion of participants with a personal history of IPV (55 % pre vs 73 % post, p = 0.02), African Americans (60 % pre vs 78 % post, p = 0.02), and those with high school degrees or less (66 % pre vs 77 % post, p = 0.04) who were more willing to answer honestly about IPV questions. Limitations of this study include generalizability as the participants were recruited from a single institution.

One observational study (Choo, & Nicolaidis, et al., 2012) assembled the data from 21 EDs in the northwest from 2001 to 2005 merged with a telephone survey at the same hospitals with the aim to examine the association between IPV diagnoses and a variety of resources. IPV was diagnosed 1,929 times in 754,597 adult female visits with mandatory IPV screening and victim advocates being the most common resources available. However, of the hospital services and policies assessed, a standardized intervention checklist for management of IPV was associated with increased odds of receiving an IPV diagnosis (odds ratio (OR): 1.71; 95 % CI: 1.04 - 2.82). The odds of receiving an IPV diagnosis was decreased with the use of public displays and there was no association between an IPV policy and an IPV diagnosis (OR: 1.48; 95 % CI: 0.70-3.14), training of clinicians (OR: 1.12; 95 % CI: 0.70-1.80), ED advocacy (OR: 1.00; 95 % CI: 0.37-2.69) or standardized screening questions (OR 0.82; 95 % CI: 0.42-1.62).

The primary outcome of an IPV diagnosis was dependent upon accurate coding and documentation which is a limitation. Another limitation was the survey instrument was not a validated assessment tool, however, once a patient has been identified as IPV positive, providing a brochure of behavioral health resources and paper copies of educational information about IPV issues improved referral of the patients after discharge from the ED (Wolff et al., 2017).

#### **Publication Bias Check**

To address the possibility of publication bias, a search of the grey literature was performed. Key search terms "intimate partner violence and screening and emergency room" were entered into the search bar yielding about 13,800,000 results. The search results were ranked from most relevant, and the first 20 results were examined. There was no evidence of a publication bias based on the grey literature, and findings were consistent with the themes in the systematic review.

There is strong evidence that a dual approach that combines injury location with inperson screening increases IPV positive screens. This dual approach was more effective when combined than when used in isolation (Perciaccante, & Susarla, et al., 2010; Perciaccante, & Carey, et al., 2010; DiVietro et al., 2018). The other dual method approach study by DiVietro et al. (2018) was effective as the design combined a computerized screening method with face-toface screening, however, the costs required to implement this may be a barrier to use. Additionally, ensuring training of the ED staff on the policies and procedures and involving a social worker as early as possible when IPV is identified or suspected was an effective strategy. Furthermore, the likelihood of identifying IPV was improved when trust and rapport was established which was accomplished through ensuring privacy, actively listening, ensuring continuity of care, and asking questions face to face (Williams et al., 2016). Similarly, kioskbased screening in the ED may help women feel more comfortable, can provide privacy, and help reach a varied population of at-risk women which can result in women taking protective actions over shorter periods of time (Schrager et al., 2013).

Finally, educating staff how to screen, the importance of screening, and policies and procedures of screening and response are vital to success. A key barrier to routine IPV screening was inadequate preparation and lack of education (Hugl-Wajek et al., 2012). An important finding was that standardization of universal IPV screenings has been found to improve screening (DiVietro et al., 2018). Furthermore, there is an implication of designating trained individuals such as domestic violence coordinators or social workers to conduct the IPV screening. The number of IPV screenings increased when performed by trained domestic violence coordinators and referrals almost always occurred when social workers were involved (Hugl-Wajek et al., 2012; Rhodes et al., 2011).

#### Limitations of the Review

The limitations of this review were the lack of level I evidence studies, with most studies being level II and level III. A few studies failed to discuss validity and reliability or specificity and sensitivity of IPV screening tools and were given a good rating. However, one of the most readily utilized IPV screening tools was the HITS IPV screening tool as recommended by the American College of Surgeons (Bonne et al., 2019). Other limitations included inability to generalize findings due to high levels of ethnic populations in locations such as inner cities compared to rural (Bazargan-Hejazi et al., 2014). Furthermore, some of the studies had small sample sizes such as in the study by Robinson (2010) in which 13 ED nurses participated.

The purpose of this project was to conduct a systematic program evaluation of the IPV screening program currently utilized in the ED of an academic medical center. The external

23

evidence synthesized from the ROL shows that IPV screening is required as a standard of care by TJC and ACS, but adherence to these standards is lower than desired as up to 33 % of hospitals do not screen for IPV (Delgado et al., 2011). While there are 33 different screening tools, the strongest evidence found in this review was the dual method approach (DiVietro et al., 2018, Perciaccante & Carey, et al., 2010, Perciaccante, & Susarla, et al., 2010) and education (Chapin et al., 2011; Hugl-Wajek et al., 2012; Robinson, 2010, Wolff et al., 2017, Zakrison et al., 2018, Choo, & Nicolaidis, et al., 2012). Many nurses and health care professionals lack the confidence and/or education in how to conduct IPV screening (Hugl-Wajek et al., 2012, Robinson, 2010; Williams et al., 2016). This external evidence informed this internal data obtained in the following institutional assessment.

#### **Institutional Assessment**

The practice site is a 600-bed Level 1 trauma center in the mid-Atlantic states that sees an average of 60,000 patients per year and serves a predominantly rural population. During the time of this program evaluation, there were 30 full-time faculty providers and three part-time faculty providers, all of which were ED physicians, one nurse practitioner, no physician assistants, 12 designated social workers, and four part-time forensic nurse examiners (FNEs) and one forensics nurse practitioner (UVA Health, 2020). In January 2022, the nursing turnover rate was 70 % with 77 open RN positions. There were 22 full time RNs, five part time RNs, 17 RNs that opted for no benefits, and 65 travel RNs. The average experience of staff RNs was about 8 years, however, three or four RNs have over 20 years of experience. The median years' experience was closer to 3 years. Most of the travel RNs had a few years of RN experience (K. Kasen, personal communication, January 20, 2022). The nurse/patient ratio was variable. In this ED, new nurses completed a 6 to 12-week orientation and travel nurses were provided with a 2-day orientation.

The FNE service hospital inpatient and outpatient areas. A child abuse pediatrician covers the clinics and services are coordinated with community agencies. FNEs complete specialized training to care for patients that experience sexual assault, domestic violence, or strangulation (Forensic Exams, 2022). FNE consults are typically requested based on patient's injuries. Furthermore, reasons for consults were categorized in categories such as IPV and strangulation. The nursing staff or social work staff can call the forensic nursing team directly without placing a consult. The FNE office is adjacent to triage and therefore, FNEs are easily accessible. FNEs are available during business hours and on call for night and weekend hours. Patients with FNE consults are interviewed in the FNE office or at bedside (K. Coggins RN, FNE, personal communication, February 3, 2022). Most of the strangulation cases were related directly to IPV (K. Laughon, PhD, RN, FAAN, personal communication, January 18, 2022).

Social work consult requests were mainly received via phone or in person requests from nursing, FNEs, and providers. Tracking the number of consult requests related to IPV is difficult to track because consults were not ordered through the EHR. Between January 2019 to December 2021, 27,618 pediatric and adult consults were completed by the social work department in the ED. Reasons for consults were not tracked (J. Emanuel, personal communication, January 27, 2022). In March 2021, the HITS tool was built into the EHR, and the social workers were trained how to use the tool.

The ED was renovated in 2019 increasing its square footage from 15,000 to 45,000 square feet and bed capacity from 45 to 70. The renovation featured all private rooms, a separate space for pediatric and adult patients, and a dedicated space for mental health services (Rowe, 2019). The team expressed that the downside of the renovation was the conversion of the triage section from a private area to a semi-private area. The disadvantage of a semi-private triage

workspace is the inability to interview patients in private where sensitive questions can be asked (K. Kasen, personal communication, January 21, 2022).

Hospital policy HR 0213 requires that upon initial assessment, health care professionals screen all patients for abuse and neglect and shall refer all suspected cases to Social Work (Hall, 2020). This policy charges the RN with the responsibility for first line screening. Additionally, a systematic evaluation of the IPV screening program had not been conducted at the author's practice site to identify strengths and opportunities for improvement. There is no formal education on IPV screening or assessment included in the ED nursing orientation (M. Sutherland, RN, personal communication, November 12, 2021). There were no hard stops or prompts for IPV screening tools in the EHR.

A new program was implemented in the ED in 2021 to improve the rate of IPV screening and referral to community resources. The social work department was charged with completing the HITS IPV screening tool after a consult was initiated by the ED nurse, who is responsible for the primary screening. The social worker manager reported a lower-than-expected referral rate (E. Horton, personal communication, April 13, 2021). Since compliance with national standards and internal policy was unknown and barriers to IPV screening at this site were unexamined, this program evaluation of the IPV screening program, which is a subsect of the overall patient safety program, was conducted.

#### **Design: Program Evaluation**

The design of this DNP scholarly project was a systematic program evaluation using the Agency for Clinical Innovation (ACI) framework as the implementation framework. This model offers three different types of evaluations based on the length of time a program has been in place (ACI, 2013). A program evaluation is used to provide information about the activities,

outcomes, costs, and effectiveness of a clinical or administrative initiative (Yeaton et al., 1997). A "program" is defined as activities required to achieve goals. The scope of the program evaluation is determined by the quality of the data available, availability of resources, complexity of the evaluation questions, and importance of the evaluation questions. A program evaluation can determine what structures and processes should be changed to improve outcomes.

Four assets must be in place for a program evaluation: an evaluation team, data, funding, and time (Yeaton et al., 1997). An evaluation team can be either from within the organization (internal), and/or outside the organization (external). Internal evaluation teams are useful if they have relationships with the program staff that can assist with more accurate, complete, and efficient data collection. However, barriers anticipated with use of an internal evaluation teams include strong resistance from the program staff, or time constraints. External evaluation teams should be considered when new perspectives or objectivity is needed, time constraints prevent internal evaluation teams from conducting program evaluations, or an unbiased assessment is necessary.

Data is required for a program evaluation and can be qualitative or quantitative. The collection of baseline data improves the quality of an evaluation (Yeaton et al., 1997). The program evaluation plan should have precise start and end dates, interim and realistic milestones. Furthermore, all costs associated with the evaluation should be clearly stated.

Six principles underpin all ACI evaluations: Timeliness, active involvement, accuracy, validity, reliability, and ethical. Evaluations should be done in a timely manner, stakeholders should be identified and actively involved, assumptions and contexts should be explicit, methods and data should be relevant, valid, and reliable, and should be conducted in an ethical manner (ACI, 2013).

#### **Formative Evaluation**

Three ACI program evaluation approaches include: Formative, process, or summative (ACI, 2013). A process evaluation is used to better understand how well the program is being implemented and can provide feedback on the quality of the implementation whereas, a summative evaluation is generally done at the completion of a project or near the end and assess the quality, outcome, and impact of a completed project. It was determined that these two approaches were not relevant to this IPV screening program. Formative evaluations assess program design and are implemented before the program often as a pilot. A formative evaluation approach builds a case for change, needs assessments, gap analysis, research synthesis, and review of best practice. The formative evaluation was a good fit for this IPV screening program evaluation because preliminary data and reports from stakeholders indicated a practice gap between optimal practice and actual practice (ACI, 2013). The formative evaluation typically asks the following three questions (ACI, 2013, p 4):

- 1. What is known about the problem that the program will address?
- 2. What is the accepted best practice?
- 3. What does research and evidence reveal about this problem?

#### **ACI Evaluation Cycle**

The ACI evaluation cycle, as shown in Figure 2, outlines 8 steps in the process: establishing an evaluation team, planning, program logic, evaluation design, data plan, implementation, communicating results, and incorporating findings (ACI, 2013). These steps were followed as the methods to this program evaluation.

## Figure 2

ACI Evaluation Cycle



*Note. This figure provides a brief overview of each step within the ACI evaluation cycle (ACI, 2013, p. 6).* 

The ACI evaluation cycle was used as the implementation framework for this systematic program evaluation. The setting for this program evaluation was the ED at the author's practice site.

## **Step 1: Establishing an Evaluation Team**

Establishing an evaluation team provides a mix of expertise and independence whose role is to facilitate planning, implementation, analysis, and reporting of the evaluation and is necessary for an effective evaluation. The evaluation team for the IPV screening program evaluation includes: a practice mentor (the injury prevention coordinator), DNP advisor, social work departmental manager, social work ED supervisor, forensics nurse examiner (FNE), ED nurse, the ED nursing director, the ED nurse manager, and the ED nurse educator. Key partnerships were made with the injury prevention coordinator, ED nurse, and FNE. The ED interim nurse manager ascended to the nursing director position and the nurse manager position was filled by an ED nurse, who also became a critical member of the team. The author also invited the chair of the department of emergency medicine and the ED's medical director to join the team. Individual and group meetings were conducted in person and by virtual meeting formats.

The creating of this team was a challenge for several reasons. First, the author was not employed at the site nor could seek employment due to active military status. Secondly, the project was initiated at the peak of the COVID-19 pandemic. Thirdly, the nurse staff turnover rate in the ED of 70 % presented challenges to nurse involvement.

#### **Step 2: Planning**

The evaluation team also assists with planning by developing a communication and dissemination plan of the results and reports. The team agreed to participate in monthly 30-minute meetings via Zoom and email correspondence. The team also agreed to review and disseminate the final report and executive summary via email.

#### **Step 3: Program Logic**

Program logic is a useful tool for defining a program and what should be measured and when (see Figure 3). Program logic can describe the change process, document connections between critical components within a project, and can facilitate participation of stakeholders. Components of a program logic are inputs, activities, outputs, and outcomes and provide an overview of progression of the program evaluation. The program logic underpinning this systematic evaluation was to evaluate the ED's IPV screening program and advise the best practice for IPV screening to improve screening compliance. **Inputs** are the resources needed for implementation such as establishing a team, engaging key stakeholders, reviewing TJC standards for IPV screening, and ED Policy 0213. This IPV screening program evaluation team identified a practice gap in IPV screening and was fully engaged in monthly meetings. Through coordination from the nurse manager, the team shadowed a triage nurse to understand the workflow and were able to identify benefits and potential harms of screening in the semi-private triage area.

Activities were actions that led to meaningful outputs. The author led the following activities: 30-minute monthly team meetings, distributed the team-designed IPV screening questionnaire survey to ED personnel, worked with data analytics to obtain IPV screening data, performed individual chart audits of the 21 patients screened for IPV, and helped design the HITS training for social workers which occurred in March 2021. **Outputs** are the immediate results of the actions and helped guide recommendations for the ED IPV screening program. Outputs included the number of surveys completed, the organizational assessment results, the chart audits results and EHR data and the number of social workers trained to use the HITS. **Outcomes** of the program evaluation included identification of a practice gap, the ED team's increased awareness of the importance of IPV screening, and recommendations for the ED IPV screening program.

## Figure 3

Program Logic: Inputs, Activities, Outputs, And Outcomes



Note. The program logic reflects this program evaluation.

## Step 4 and 5: Evaluation Design and Data Plan

The fourth step in the ACI model, evaluation design, builds on the program logic and involves defining the specific questions that will guide the selection of appropriate measures, and indicators. The formative evaluation shaped the questions used to evaluate the IPV screening program in use. Additional questions posed by team members included: Is the current intimate partner violence screening program meeting TJC standards and what parts of intimate partner violence screening program are most effective?

In Spring 2021, the injury prevention coordinator, the author, and the ED's lead social worker trained 12 ED social workers to administer the HITS tool in the ED and document the results. Due to the impact of the global COVID–19 pandemic in 2020 on hospital utilization,

2019 was chosen as a more comparable baseline pre-HITS training for this project rather than the pandemic year of 2020. Pre-HITS implementation in 2021, three screening tools available for use in the EHR: The Abuse Assessment Screen (AAS), Suspected Abuse/Neglect, and the Abuse Screening assessment. However, due to low volume of IPV screening tool results (1 completed screen) in the EHR in 2019, this plan was modified and the period for EHR data was expanded to include 2020. Therefore, pre-HITS data included the years 2019-2020 used to compare to post-HITS implementation data in 2021.

The data plan included the comparison of data to determine if the current ED IPV screening program was effective. The data plan included 11 data elements from two primary sources of data: the EHR and ED personnel. Ten EHR data elements for patients greater than 18 years of age admitted to the ED between January 1, 2019, and December 31, 2021, were chosen by the author and the evaluation team. EHR data Adult admissions are estimated as 75 % of the total number of annual ED admissions which is publicly reported and was validated with the team. Based on the ICD – 10 codes provided by the practice site's trauma registrar, the author categorized the traumas into four main mechanisms of injury (MOI): trips and falls, assault, IPV, and motor vehicle crashes/other. FNE consults data provided by the FNE team (K. Coggins RN, FNE, personal communication, February 3, 2022). EHR data was retrieved by the clinical analyst and analyzed by the author and clinical analyst to answer the following questions:

- 1. How many adult patients were admitted to the ED? How many were trauma? How many were non-trauma?
- 2. What are the demographic of the adult patients admitted to the ED: age, gender, race, marital status, and insurance status (insured/non-insured)?

- 3. In the trauma patients admitted to the ED, what is the breakdown of the types of trauma/injuries/mechanisms of injuries (MOIs)?
- 4. Of the trauma patients how many received forensic nurse examiner (FNE) consults?
- 5. How many adult patients had a primary screen for IPV documented in the EHR? What was the role of the clinician completing the primary screen: nurse, advance practice provider, social worker, physician, other?
- 6. Of the adult trauma patients who had a documented IPV screen, how many of these were positive? How many of the non-trauma patients had a positive IPV screen?
- 7. Of the adult trauma patients who had a documented IPV screen, how many of these were positive? How many of the non-trauma patients had a positive screen?
- 8. Of the adult trauma and non-trauma patients with a positive primary IPV screen, how many social work referrals were ordered in the EHR?
- 9. In trauma and non-trauma patients with a positive IPV secondary screen, how many and what kind of referrals to community agencies were made?
- 10. Of the adult trauma patients and non-trauma cases with a positive primary screen, how many consults were made to the FNE Team?
- 11. To assess barriers and facilitators to IPV screening, the team and the author developed an IPV screening questionnaire consisting of 17 questions.

The eleventh data element asked the question what are the barriers and facilitators to IPV screening? This tool was administered to ED personnel (see Figure 4). The team evaluated the eleven data elements from outputs and identified practice gaps used to determine effectiveness of the IPV screening program. The author developed recommendations based on the outcomes of the program evaluation and the review of literature to address practice gaps.

# Figure 4

IPV Screening Questionnaire

#### Intimate Partner Violence (IPV) Screening: What is your perspective?

Staff <u>I</u> Staff <u>I</u> Trave	N (full-time)     Social worker     ED Physician       N (part-time)     Nurse Practitioner       RN contract     Physician Assistant							
Likert	t scale key: 1 = none 2 = very little 3 = somev	vhat	4 = freq	uently	5 = ai	ll the time		
Barrie	ers to screening for IPV							
	Takes too much time / I am too busy	1	2	3	4	5		
	Knowledge of IPV and how to screen	1	2	3	4	5		
•	Unsure of the protocol / UVA policy	1	2	3	4	5		
•	Comfort level with asking sensitive questions	1	2	3	4	5		
•	Screening questions are difficult to locate in EPIC	1	2	3	4	5		
•	No "safe" space to discuss screening questions	1	2	3	4	5		
•	Staffing is too limited	1	2	3	4	5		
<ul> <li>Unaware that initial screening at time of intake is part of the RN role</li> </ul>								
		1	2	3	4	5		
•	Language barriers / using the translator phone	1	2	3	4	5		
•	Lack of follow-up when patient declines to answer	: 1	2	3	4	5		
Other:			_					
Facilit	tators (helpful) to screening for IPV							
	Time to screen for IPV is adequate	1	2	3	4	5		
	Education / training / orientation for IPV screening	g 1	2	3	4	5		
	There is a "safe" space to screen	1	2	3	4	5		
•	Access to social workers	1	2	3	4	5		
•	Access to forensics examiners	1	2	3	4	5		
•	Staffing is adequate	1	2	3	4	5		
Other:			_					
You are welcome to describe your IPV screening experiences in this ED								

## Step 6 and 7: Implementation and Communicating Results

The data plan was implemented in step 6 and results disseminated in Step 7. Prior to implementation, the author submitted the proposal for Institutional Review Board (IRB)

determination. The IRB determined that an IRB review was not required for this project.

Implementation began once the first five steps of the ACI framework were in place including data collection and analysis of the data elements outlined in the data plan.

Baseline and comparison data were collected per the data plan (see Table 1). Meetings with the evaluation team members were conducted as needed to inform the implementation, data collection/analysis as described in the planning phase. All data were kept confidential and stored in a locked space. Additionally, the author performed a chart audit of the 21 patients screened for IPV from 2019–2021 for which aggregate data is provided in Table 2. The author found that most patients screened were females (86 %) with an average age of 46 and most screened positive for IPV using the HITS tool. Furthermore, most were trauma patients (67 %) insured with Medicaid (67 %).
#### Table 1

Data Plan, Element Source, and Results

Data element			Re	sults	
Jan 1, 2019–Dec 31, 2021	Data	2019	2020	2021	Total
Adult patients aged 18 +	source				
1. How many adult patients	EHR		Adult ED	admission	S
were admitted to the ED (18 and older)? How many were		48,177^	45,288^	43,275^	136,740^
trauma? How many were			Adult ED	non-traum	a
non-trauma?		46,487^	43,635^	41,571^	131,693^
			Adult	trauma	
		1,690	1,653	1,704	5,047
2. What are the demographic of the adult patients (18 years of age and older) admitted to the ED: age, gender, race, marital status, and insurance status (insured/non-insured)?	EHR			* *	
3. In the trauma patients	EHR		Trips a	and falls	
admitted to the ED, what is		697	689	774	2160
the breakdown of the types			As	sault	
trauma/injuries/mechanisms		48	56	48	152
of injuries (MOIs)?			Π	PV	
		1	2		3
		Moto	r Vehicle (	Crashes an	d other
		944	906	882	2732
4. Of the trauma patients, how	Forensics		FNE cons	ults for IPV	V
many received FNE	team	63	65	78	206
consults?		FNI	E consults f	for strangu	lation
		49	36	35	120
		Adult forensic patients (not IPV or strangulation)			EIPV or
		323	260	309	892
		То	tal adult fo	prensic pati	ents
		435	361	422	1,218

Data element			Re	sults	
Jan 1, 2019–Dec 31, 2021 Adult patients aged 18 +	Data Element source	2019	2020	2021	Total
5. How many adult patients	EHR				
had a primary screen for IPV documented in the EHR? What was the role of the clinician completing the primary screen: nurse, advance practice provider, social worker, physician, other?		<b>▲</b> 1	<b>♣</b> 1	<b>▲</b> 19	<b>♣</b> 21
6. Of the adult trauma patients	EHR		Positiv	e screens	
who had a documented IPV		1		17	18
screen, how many of these			Negativ	e Screens	
of the non-trauma patients			1	2	3
had a positive screen? (See Table 2)					
7. Of the adult trauma and	EHR / social	All social work consults for positi			
non-trauma patients (18	work team	screens	requested	in person,	not EHR
positive primary IPV screen,		1*     1/*     18*			
how many social work		and adult patients			
referrals were ordered in the EHR?		9,402≉	9,163≠	9,053≠	27,618≠
8. In trauma and non-trauma	EHR	Do	mestic Vi	olence She	lters
patients with a positive IPV				12	12
tool), how many and what		Psych			
kind of referrals to		1			1
community agencies were made?			Pc	lice	
				3	3
			Education	n resources	5
				1	1
		A	dult Prote	ctive Servi	ces
			<b>F</b>		
			Financia	resources	1
				1	1

Data element		Results				
Jan 1, 2019–Dec 31, 2021	Data	2019	2020	2021	Total	
Adult patients aged 18 +	Element					
	source					
9. Of the adult trauma patients	EHR			6	6	
and non-trauma cases with a						
positive primary screen.						
how many consults were						
made to the FNE Team?						
				1 1 2		
10. Since the HITS program	EHR	HITS screens completed for non-trauma				
was formally implemented,			patients			
how many secondary				4	4	
screens using the HITS were		HITS s	screens cor	mpleted for trauma		
completed in trauma and			pat	ients		
non-trauma patients?				12	12	
				13	15	
11. Barriers and facilitators to	17-item	See Table 3 and Figure 5		e 5		
IPV screening	Likert Scale					
	· ·					

Note:  $^{=}$  estimation,  $\neq$  = pediatric and adult patients, \* = consults requested in person, \* = unable to obtain this data from EHR,  $\clubsuit$  = completed by social worker. per the ED nurse educator recommendation with team concurrence (2022) (personal communication, M. Sutherland, February 17, 2022). Empty cells = zero.

#### Table 2

Demographics and Consults of Patients Screened for IPV From 2019–2021

Characteristics	Trauma Patients $n = 14$		Non-trauma patients $n = 7$			
	At risk	Positive	Negative	At risk	Positive	Negative
	for IPV	Screen	screen	for IPV	Screen	screen
Gender						
Female	10	1	2	2	4	
Male	1					1
Years of age						
Average	44	43	49.5	46.5	52.5	33
Median	43	43	49.5	46.5	56	33
Mode	24					
Trauma type						
Fall	4	1	1			
Assault	2					
Strangulation	4					
MVC	1					
IPV			1			
Non-trauma				2	4	1
Consults						
FNE consult	6					
Social work	11			2	4	1
consult						
Social work ref	erral					
IPV shelter	6	1		2	3	
Psychiatry					1	
						1
Transportation						
Education	1					
Police	3					
Financial	1		1			
Adult	1					
Protective						
Services						
Insurance type						
Medicare	1	1	1			
Medicaid	6		1	2	4	1
VA	1					
Private	1					
insurance						
No Insurance	2					

Characteristics	Trauma Patients $n = 14$			Non-trauma patients $n = 7$				
	At risk	Positive	Negative	At risk	Positive	Negative		
	for IPV	Screen	screen	for IPV	Screen	screen		
Transportation to ED								
EMS	7	1	1	2		1		
Walk-in	4		1		3			
Direct admit					1			

Note. Empty cells indicate a zero value. Patients identified as at risk for defined IPV received HITS scores > 11. Positive HITS screen > 4. HARK or Abuse Screening Tool. Trauma is any sustained injury. Non-trauma is no sustained injury. Positive screens were obtained using the HITS and HARK tools.

The IPV screening questionnaire was used to identify barriers and facilitators to IPV screening. The author and the IPV screening team developed a paper and pencil style questionnaire for ED personnel. This tool was administered in August 2021. The author in consultation with the ED nurse manager, attended shift changes four times within the same week. The author presented a 1-minute summary of the goal of the IPV screening program evaluation and the intent of the questionnaire to identify barrier or facilitators to completing the primary IPV screen on newly admitted ED patients. The respondents were instructed on how to navigate the questionnaire and where to place completed questionnaires. Respondents took an average of 5 minutes to complete the form. The author, with permission from the nurse manager, provided the same 1-minute summary in the ED provider and social worker work room.

Most nursing respondents completed the questionnaire in the staff lounge. ED providers and social workers completed the surveys in their work rooms. Upon completion, the respondents were asked to place their questionnaires into a secure, opaque box labeled as "Completed Intimate Partner Violence Screening Questionnaires, Thank you!". The author was listed as the point of contact on the box. A handful of respondents requested to complete the questionnaire later. The author retrieved the box from the charge nurse station at the end of the week to allow ample time for respondents to complete the surveys.

The questionnaire used a Likert scale from one (none), to two (very little) to three (somewhat) to four (frequently) to five (all the time) to answer this main question: How often are these factors a barrier or facilitator to completion of the primary IPV screen on all newly admitted ED adult patients? Ten of the questions focused on barriers to IPV screening, six questions focused on facilitators to IPV screening, and one question invited respondents to describe their screening experiences in the ED. The complete questionnaire can be found in Figure 4.

Forty-nine ED RNs, ED physicians, social workers and one emergency medical technician (EMT) completed the questionnaire. This 49 included the planning team of five participants. The respondents consisted of 28 full-time nurses (56 %), three part-time nurses (6 %), six travel nurses (12 %), six unidentified respondents (12 %), four emergency room physicians (8 %), two social workers (4 %), and one EMT.

The results of the questionnaire were entered by hand into Qualtrics, a web-based program and exported to the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS). SPSS The questionnaire had a Cronbach's Alpha of 0.792 which is considered an acceptable rating. A Cronbach's Alpha is a measure of internal consistency and a score of 0.7 or greater is considered acceptable (Plichta, 2013).

The original 5-point Likert scale was condensed into a 3-point scale for clear visualization of results. Categories none and very little were combined and categories frequently and all the time were combined. Thus, the questionnaire results shown in Figure 5 are based on

the Likert scale: 1. None or very little 2. Somewhat 3. Frequently or all the time. This adjustment enhanced the identification of barriers and facilitators.

The 49 respondents identified these barriers to IPV screening:

- 74 % identified that lack of knowledge about IPV screening was a barrier sometimes, frequently, or all the time.
- 70 % reported that lack of follow up with patients who decline to answer was a barrier somewhat, frequently, or all the time.
- 68.8 % answered that being unaware that the RN was responsible for IPV screening was a barrier to IPV screening somewhat, frequently, or all the time.
- 66 % of the respondents reported that lack of familiarity with the IPV screening policy/protocol was a barrier somewhat, frequently, or all the time.
- 64 % identified location of the IPV screening questions in the EHR was a barrier somewhat, frequently of all the time.
- 44.9 % identified that lack of time or being too busy was a barrier somewhat, frequently or all the time.

ED personnel were also queried about facilitators to IPV screening

- 70 % felt that a safe space to screen was a facilitator somewhat, frequently or all the time.
- 66 % reported access to social workers was a facilitator frequently or all the time.
- 66 % reported access to FNEs as a facilitator frequently or all the time.
- 55.1 % felt that adequate time to screen was a facilitator somewhat, frequently, or all the time.
- Only 18 % reported staffing as adequate frequently or all the time.

The barriers most frequently identified in the questionnaire were lack of knowledge (74 %), and lack of follow-up (70 %), and unawareness that the RN was responsible for IPV screening (68.8 %). The facilitators most frequently identified in the questionnaire were safe spaces to screen (70 %), and access to social workers (66 %) and FNEs (66 %).

#### Figure 5



#### Facilitators and Barriers to IPV Screening

Note: Bar graph generated in SPSS using descriptive statistics

The seventeenth survey question was: "You are welcome to describe your IPV screening

experiences in this ED." Sixteen respondents wrote comments on their questionnaires. Table 3

lists the responses to this question. Twelve of the 16 comments related to the lack of education

and training as a barrier to IPV screening while others pointed to the EHR and lack of follow up.

#### Table 3

Open Ended Answers to IPI	V Questionnaire
---------------------------	-----------------

Questionnaire Item 17 Responses	Barrier identified
• "I'm a travel RN, I may or may not know or have the time to learn everything before I'm off to the next assignment" (travel nurse)	Education and training
• "I have never used it" (travel nurse)	
• "I typically ask the questions only when the injuries or	
behavior of the patient / significant other / family indicates that it may be a problem" (full-time nurse)	
• "There are none!" (full-time nurse)	
• "Did not know there was a screening process in the ER or in the EHR at all" (full-time nurse)	
<ul> <li>"I'm a new hire needs to review hospital policy on this and more exposure" (full-time nurse)</li> </ul>	
• "We don't have a well-established screening process here in the ED to my knowledge and if we do, we are severely lacking in	
nurse)	
• "Unaware of any screening done in ED or where to locate but will be a great and needed addition" (full-time nurse)	
<ul> <li>"We don't do this" (full-time nurse)</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>"We don't receive education or rounds, new interns unaware of forensic processes" (full-time nurse)</li> </ul>	
• "There is no screening tool in our triage flowsheet. Triage is "public" in the waiting room" (full-time nurse)	
• "At other hospitals it was made part of "triage" questions that	
had to be asked. Not any more currently" (part-time nurse)	
• "It is difficult to get all the doctors on board when suspicion is	
raised. They need training! Also, it is hard to separate patient	
and significant others without causing a high degree of anxiety	
for patient." (part-time nurse)	

• "unaware of any screening done in ED or where to locate but	Difficult to locate tool
will be a great and needed addition" (full-time nurse).	in EHR:
• "It is difficult to get all the doctors on board when suspicion is	Follow up
raised. They need training! Also, it is hard to separate patient	
and significant others without causing a high degree of anxiety	
for patient." (part-time nurse)	

Note. No facilitators identified within the responses.

Utilizing the formative evaluation, the author answered the following questions to

determine the effectiveness of the IPV screening program:

- Is the current IPV screening program meeting TJC standards and if so, how are we meeting TJC standards?
- 2. What are the barriers and facilitators to consistency and compliance with IPV screening?
- 3. What is known about consistency and compliance with IPV screening?

The team concurred with the questions with no modifications recommended. These questions guided the selection of appropriate measures, and indicators that were decided by the evaluation team.

1. Is the current IPV screening program meeting TJC standards and if so, how are we meeting TJC standards? At the practice site, policy HR 0213 requires that upon initial assessment, health care professionals screen all patients for abuse and neglect and shall refer all suspected cases to Social Work (Hall, 2020, p. 1). The TJC requires hospitals to have policies for the identification, evaluation, management, early identification, and referral of patients that are victims of IPV. The organizational assessment completed by the doctoral student indicated, anecdotally, that adherence to policy HR 0213 was inconsistent and there was poor compliance with utilization of the screening tools in the EHR.

2. What are the barriers and facilitators to consistency and compliance with IPV screening? The most identified barriers to IPV screening were time and "being too busy" followed by lack of knowledge on how to screen. The biggest barriers revolved around education and training: unsure of the protocol / policy; unawareness that screening for IPV on initial intake of the patient was part of the RN's role, and screening tools questions being difficult to locate in the EHR, and lack of follow up. The most identified facilitators to IPV screening were safe spaces to screen, access to social workers and access to FNEs.

3. What is known about consistency and compliance with IPV screening? Once EHR data was collected, low compliance with TJC standards and hospital policy was evidenced by the completion of only 21 IPV for the three-year period, 2019-2021. Per hospital policy and TJC standards, all adult patients should be screened for IPV. Therefore, 136,740 screens should have been completed over the three-year period. However, only one IPV screening using the HARK tool was completed, by a social worker, in 2019 as found in the audit of the EHR. In 2020, one IPV screening assessment was completed by social work. After the targeted education on use of the HITS tool in Spring 2021, 19 HITS screenings were completed by social work as found in the EHR. No screenings by nursing staff using a validated tool, were recorded in the EHR by nursing staff between 2019 to 2021.

The percentage of compliance was estimated to be 0.015 %. This compliance rate was calculated by dividing the total number of screenings found in the EHR (21) for patients admitted between January 1, 2019, through December 31, 2021, by the estimated number of adult ED admissions (136,740). These results show that consistency and compliance with IPV screening is poor.

Prior to Spring 2021, there was no formal process for screening in the ED patient intake workflow. Despite the lack of a consistent process, 206 FNE consults for IPV were found in the EHR, suggesting that ED personnel were identifying some patients at risk. This data shows that the ED is not meeting the TJC standard for IPV screening and referral to social services.

The team requested a preliminary summary of the results of the program evaluation. The preliminary summary was presented in a situation, background, assessment, recommendation (SBAR) format. The recommendations were:

- Include the HITS screening tool in the adult assessment form in the EHR.
- Create a "hard stop" within the adult assessment form for the HITS screen with comment section.
- Provide a social work consultation link within the adult assessment tool (send consult for a positive HITS screen = any "yes" response to HITS).
- Include IPV screening training in the use of the HITS tool in the RN unit orientation to include where, when, and how to screen and how to document in the patients' charts.

The team had concern that adding the HITS training to an already full nursing orientation would make the orientation too long. Providing in-services was discussed as an option, however the question arose of how to provide the training to all four nursing shifts. Furthermore, with the high turnover rate, the in-services would need to be provided frequently to accommodate the frequent new nursing hires.

The team provided their advice about the sustainability of the recommendations. The team agreed with the recommendations with the following exceptions: The team requested the HITS tool score be modified to the following: 0 = "never", 1 = "rarely", 2 = "sometimes", 3 = "fairly often", 4 = "frequently". The score range would be 0 to 16 rather than 4 to 20. The caveat

for social work was with the traditional HITS scores range of 1-5, a score of 10 or greater in females and 11 or greater in males would classify one as victimized. The score 0 to 16 could help reduce confusion of what score is considered a positive score (any score one or greater) compared to a positive score with the non-modified HITS tool (a score of five or greater). To ensure the score modification was equivalent to the non-modified score, a score of 6 or greater in females and 7 or greater in males would classify one as being victimized. The author's practice site obtained permission from the developers of the tool, to modify the tool. The stipulation to modified in such a way that it becomes more difficult to obtain a positive score (E. Horton, personal communication, January 24, 2022). The HITS tool should be clearly marked as modified within the EHR. The team is aware that modifying the HITS tool may limit future multi-site research participation.

The nurse manager invited the team to shadow the workflow of the triage nurse and staff nurse to determine if the adult assessment form was the most efficient location for the HITS tool. These observations confirmed that the adult assessment form in the EHR was the optimal location for the HITS-modified screening tool and fostered staff nurse buy-in. Due to the lack of private spaces for screening it was requested that the triage nurse have a process available to flag patients in triage in the EHR for suspected abuse. The triage nurse can flag patients based on chief complaints and presentation. The electronic flag will be visible to ED nurses and physicians and a safe environment can be prepared to screen the patient for IPV. The team determined that it was important to have a process for identifying patients at risk for IPV in triage as a second layer of IPV identification. After presentation of the executive summary and recommendations to the team, one modification was made. The recommendation to include a prompt will appear "Do you want to order a consult for this patient?" was removed due to concern of burden on the nurse and social work consults will be initiated by the HITS score greater than one.

A final executive summary (appendix B) including recommendations was presented to the stakeholders and administration at the completion of the project. The recommendations presented were:

- 1. Embed HITS tool in the EHR nursing adult assessment form in the EHR.
- Create a "hard stop" for HITS screen in the adult assessment form with a comment section.
- Create an option of "screening not done at this time" in the EHR with a drop-down menu. The dropdown list of reasons for deferment are:
  - a. "patient refused"
  - b. "patient medically unable or unavailable"
  - c. "unable to safely screen patient at this time"
  - d. "patient altered, unable to screen at this time"
- 4. Score each HITS modified screening question from 0 to 4 creating a score range of 0 to 16. A score of greater or equal to 6 in females and a score of greater or equal to 7 in males classifies as being victimized. There are four questions on the HITS-modified and the scale ranges from never (0) to frequently (4). Ensure the modified HITS tool is labeled as modified.

- Place automatic consult order in the EHR with pop-up for social worker consult if HITS score greater or equal to one. The HITS screenings will be performed by the bedside nurse.
- Place automatic consult order in EHR with pop-up for both social workers and FNEs for HITS score greater or equal to 6 (at risk for IPV).
- Place flag in the EHR to be triggered by the triage nurse when a patient is suspected of abuse so a safe and more private environment can be provided.
- 8. Include IPV screening training including the HITS-modified tool in multidisciplinary ED unit orientation. to include how, where, and when to screen, and where to document the screening. The training should include how to use the HITS-modified tool and emphasize the importance of screening patients away from friends and family.
- Perform an annual evaluation of IPV screening in trauma and non-trauma patients admitted to the ED.

#### **Step 8: Incorporating Findings**

The eighth and final step was incorporating findings used to determine the ongoing functions of the program. A formative evaluation was performed and the answered the following questions: what is known about the problem that the program will address, the accepted best practice, and what the research and evidence say about the problem.

There is strong evidence that IPV screening programs do improve outcomes. As discussed, 17 % of men and 33 % of women experience IPV (Ahmed et al., 2017) and nurses in the ED play a critical role in the identification, prevention, and management of IPV. Fifty-four percent of women that report to the ED have experienced IPV at some points in their lives with only 5 % of these women identified by health care professionals (Ahmad et al., 2017). One in 20

men that present to the ED are IPV survivors, and one out of seven trauma patients are men that screen positive for IPV (Zakrison et al., 2018). Head, neck, and face injuries were present in almost half of the patients that screened positive for IPV and patients with such injuries were more likely to report IPV-related injuries than those with injuries to other body regions (Perciaccante, & Carey, et al., 2010). Based on the volume of ED visits over a three-year period, the expected number of females and males screening positive for IPV would be approximately 36,920 and 6,837 respectively.

This program evaluation found that 21 IPV screenings were completed from January 2019 to December 2021, with 19 of the 21 screenings completed from March 2021 to December 2021 using the HITS tool. A total of 206 FNE consults suspected or confirmed IPV and a total of 119 consults for strangulation were completed from January 2019 to December 2021 and a total of 27,618 adult and pediatric patients social work consults were completed. The most commonly occurring barriers to IPV screening in the ED were lack of education and training, follow-up, and staffing. The barriers related to education and training were the following: lack of knowledge and how to screen, unawareness of the protocol and IPV screening policy, difficulty locating the screening questions, and unawareness that screening for IPV was part of the RN's role.

The most identified facilitators to IPV screening were a safe space to screen and access to social workers and FNEs. Access to forensics nurses was evident. A total of 206 FNE consults related to IPV and a total of 119 consults for strangulation were completed between January 2019 to December 2021.

The accepted best practice for identification of IPV in the ED is a dual approach that combines injury location with in-person screening (Perciaccante, & Susarla, et al., 2010, Perciaccante, & Carey, et al., 2010; DiVietro et al., 2018). This is evident in the number of forensic consults requested by ED nurses in the author's practice site, especially considering most of the forensic consults are requested based on chief complaint and patient presentation. Furthermore, educating staff how to screen, the importance of screening, and policies and procedures of screening and response are vital to success. A key barrier to routine IPV screening was inadequate preparation and lack of education (Hugl-Wajek et al., 2012), however, standardization of universal IPV screenings was found to improve screening (DiVietro et al., 2018). Moreover, there is an implication of designating trained individuals such as domestic violence coordinators and / or social workers to conduct the IPV screening. The number of IPV screenings increased when performed by trained domestic violence coordinators and referrals almost always occurred when social workers were involved (Hugl-Wajek et al., 2012; Rhodes et al., 2011). As a result of this program evaluation and collaboration with the injury prevention coordinator, a domestic violence social worker was hired through the trauma department to consult IPV cases in the ED. A designated domestic violence social worker can ensure continuity and sustainability of the IPV screening program.

A report with actionable items was provided to the evaluation team. Submitting the program evaluation report to the IPV evaluation team with recommendations for implementation was the final step. The team will then choose to implement recommendations per their discretion. Prior to submitting for publication, the data findings and analysis will be presented to corporate compliance from the author's practice site for permission to release the findings from the program evaluation.

#### **Summary and Conclusion**

IPV is prevalent in many patients admitted to the ED setting. Seventeen percent of men and 33 % of women experience IPV (Ahmed et al., 2017) and nurses in the ED play a critical role in the identification, prevention, and management of IPV. Fifty-four percent of women that report to the ED have experienced IPV at some points in their lives with only 5 % of these women identified by health care professionals (Ahmad et al., 2017). Five percent men that present to the ED are IPV survivors, and 14 % of trauma patients are men that screen positive for IPV (Zakrison et al., 2018).

Though TJC and ACS require screening of every ED patient, compliance is highly variable. The IPV screening program in the ED of a mid-Atlantic academic medical center was evaluated using a systematic framework developed by the ACI. Only 21 IPV screening tools were found in the charts of patients in a three-year period with an estimated total ED admission rate of 136,740 patient admissions. Thus, it is safe to assume that patients at risk or victimized by IPV were not identified and, therefore, did not receive the standard of care. A new program requiring a social worker to complete the IPV screening using the HITS tool after the nurse completes initial screening is showing promise to increase compliance with TJC standards and hospital policy.

This program evaluation led to nine recommendations that can improve not only the site's compliance with hospital policy and TJC standards but also improve outcomes for the vulnerable population at risk of IPV. Removing barriers such as knowledge deficit and poor staffing and enhancing facilitators such as access to a FNE team or social worker can support better patient outcomes. Considering the sobering statistic that 50 % of women who died from IPV were seen by a provider a year before their death (Aboutanos et al., 2019), implementing the recommendations from this program evaluation and continuing annual audits of compliance with TJC standards has significant potential to consistently improve patient outcomes.

#### References

Aboutanos, M. B., Altonen, M., Vincent, A., Broering, B., Maher, K., & Thomson, N. D. (2019).
 Critical call for hospital-based domestic violence intervention: The davis challenge.
 Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery, 87(5), 1197–1204.

https://doi.org/10.1097/ta.00000000002450

- Ahmad, I., Ali, P., Rehman, S., Talpur, A., & Dhingra, K. (2017). Intimate partner violence screening in emergency department: A rapid review of the literature. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 26(21-22), 3271–3285. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13706</u>
- Basile, K., Hertz, M., & Back, S. (2007). Intimate partner violence and sexual violence victimization. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control. [PDF].

https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/pdf/ipv/ipvandsvscreening.pdf

Bazargan-Hejazi, S., Kim, E., Lin, J., Ahmadi, A., Khamesi, M. T., & Teruya, S. (2014). Risk factors associated with different types of intimate partner violence (ipv): An emergency department study. *The Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 47(6), 710–720.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jemermed.2014.07.036

Bonne, S., George, J., Hall, E., Long, A., Palmieri, T., Velopulos, C., Zakrison, T., Mosenthal, A., Mazza, M., Mangram, A., Lofaso, V., Kahan, F., Yang, S., Waddell, M., Sheridan, D., Sribnick, E., Sathya, C., Raymond, W., Pierce, M. C.,...Rosen, A. (2019). ACS trauma quality programs best practices guidelines for trauma center: Recognition of child abuse, elder abuse, and intimate partner violence [abuse\_guidelines.ashx]. https://www.facs.org/-/media/files/quality-programs/trauma/tqip/abuse\_guidelines.ashx

- Burnett, L. B. (2018). Domestic violence treatment and management. *Emergency Medicine*. https://doi.org/emedicine.medscape.com/article/805546
- Chapin, J. R., Coleman, G., & Varner, E. (2011). Yes we can! improving medical screening for intimate partner violence through self-efficacy. *Journal of Injury and Violence Research*, 3(1), 19–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.5249/jivr.v3i1.62</u>
- Choo, E. K., Nicolaidis, C., Newgard, C. D., Hall, M. K., Lowe, R. A., McConnell, M., & McConnell, K. (2012). Association between emergency department resources and diagnosis of intimate partner violence. *European Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 19(2), 83–88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/mej.0b013e328348a9f2</u>
- Choo, E. K., Ranney, M. L., Aggarwal, N., & Boudreaux, E. D. (2012). A systematic review of emergency department technology-based behavioral health interventions. *Academic Emergency Medicine*, 19(3), 318–328. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1553-2712.2012.01299.x</u>
- Choo, E., Ranney, M., Wetle, T., Morrow, K., Mello, M., Squires, D., Garro, A., Tape, C., & Zlotnick, C. (2015). Attitudes toward computer interventions for partner abuse and drug use among women in the emergency department. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *146*, e247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2014.09.137
- Dang, D., & Dearholt, S. (2017). Johns hopkins nursing evidence-based practice models and guidelines (3rd ed.). Sigma Theta Tau International.

Delgado, M., Acosta, C. D., Ginde, A. A., Wang, N., Strehlow, M. C., Khandwala, Y. S., & Camargo, C. A. (2011). National survey of preventive health services in us emergency departments. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, 57(2), 104–108.e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2010.07.015 DiVietro, S., Beebe, R., Grasso, D., Green, C., Joseph, D., & Lapidus, G. D. (2018). A dualmethod approach to identifying intimate partner violence within a level 1 trauma center. *Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery*, 85(4), 766–772.

https://doi.org/10.1097/ta.000000000001950

- *Forensic exams*. (2022). Forensic exams | UVA health. Retrieved February 19, 2022, from <a href="https://uvahealth.com/services/forensic-exams">https://uvahealth.com/services/forensic-exams</a>
- Hall, K. (2020). University of Virginia Health System Medical Center Policy 0213: Abuse, neglect, or exploitation of patients. [policy].
- Hugl-Wajek, J. A., Cairo, D., Shah, S., & McCreary, B. (2012). Detection of domestic violence by a domestic violence advocate in the ed. *The Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 43(5), 860–865. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jemermed.2009.07.031</u>
- Kofman, Y. B., & Garfin, D. (2020). Home is not always a haven: The domestic violence crisis amid the covid-19 pandemic. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*, 12(S1), S199–S201. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000866</u>
- Perciaccante, V. J., Carey, J. W., Susarla, S. M., & Dodson, T. B. (2010). Markers for intimate partner violence in the emergency department setting. *Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, 68(6), 1219–1224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joms.2010.02.010</u>
- Perciaccante, V. J., Susarla, S. M., & Dodson, T. B. (2010). Validation of a diagnostic protocol used to identify intimate partner violence in the emergency department setting. *Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, 68(7), 1537–1542.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joms.2010.02.012

Plichta, S. B. (2013). *Munro's statistical methods for health care research* (6th ed.). Wolters Kluwer Health.

- Randell, K. A., Sherman, A., Walsh, I., O'Malley, D., & Dowd, M. (2018). Intimate partner violence educational materials in the acute care setting. *Pediatric Emergency Care*, *Publish Ahead of Print*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/pec.00000000001462</u>
- Rhodes, K. V., Kothari, C. L., Dichter, M., Cerulli, C., Wiley, J., & Marcus, S. (2011). Intimate partner violence identification and response: Time for a change in strategy. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 26(8), 894–899. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-011-1662-4</u>
- Robinson, R. (2010). Myths and stereotypes: How registered nurses screen for intimate partner violence. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, *36*(6), 572–576.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jen.2009.09.008

- Rodriguez, B. (2019). What victims of domestic violence experience in emergency departments; a cross sectional study. *Archives of Academic Emergency Medicine*, 7(1), 1–6.
- Rowe, M. (2019, September 27). Healthy balance a blog about uva and your healthcare. UVA emergency room expansion opening October 15. Healthy Balance. Retrieved January 21, 2022, from <u>https://blog.uvahealth.com</u>
- Schrager, J. D., Smith, L., Heron, S. L., & Houry, D. (2013). Does stage of change predict improved intimate partner violence outcomes following an emergency department intervention? *Academic Emergency Medicine*, 20(2), 169–177. https://doi.org/10.1111/acem.12081
- Scribano, P. V., Stevens, J., Marshall, J., Gleason, E., & Kelleher, K. J. (2011). Feasibility of computerized screening for intimate partner violence in a pediatric emergency department. *Pediatric Emergency Care*, 27(8), 710–716. https://doi.org/10.1097/pec.0b013e318226c871

- Sohal, H., Eldridge, S., & Feder, G. (2007). The sensitivity and specificity of four questions (hark) to identify intimate partner violence: A diagnostic accuracy study in general practice. *BMC Family Practice*, 8(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2296-8-49</u>
- UVA Health. (2020). *Uva emergency department*. https://uvahealth.com/about/facts-stats. Retrieved January 20, 2022, from <u>https://uvahealth.com/locations/profile/emergency-department</u>
- Williams, J. R., Halstead, V., Salani, D., & Koermer, N. (2016). An exploration of screening protocols for intimate partner violence in healthcare facilities: A qualitative study.
   Journal of Clinical Nursing, 26(15-16), 2192–2201. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13353</u>
- Wolff, J., Cantos, A., Zun, L., & Taylor, A. (2017). Enhanced versus basic referral for intimate partner violence in an urban emergency department setting. *The Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 53(5), 771–777. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jemermed.2017.06.044</u>
- Yau, R. K., Stayton, C. D., & Davidson, L. L. (2013). Indicators of intimate partner violence: Identification in emergency departments. *The Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 45(3), 441–449. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jemermed.2013.05.005</u>
- Yeaton, W., & Camberg, L. (1997). Management Decision and Research Center, Health Services Research and Development Service, Office of Research and Development, Department of Veterans Affairs, & Association for Health Services Research (Program Evaluation for Managers [Primer]. Boston, Massachusetts.) [Primer].
- Zakrison, T. L., Rattan, R., Milian Valdés, D., Ruiz, X., Gelbard, R., Cline, J., Turay, D., Luo-Owen, X., Namias, N., George, J., Yeh, D., Pust, D., & Williams, B. H. (2018). Universal screening for intimate partner and sexual violence in trauma patients—what about the men? an eastern association for the surgery of trauma multicenter trial. *Journal of*

Trauma and Acute Care Surgery, 85(1), 85–90.

https://doi.org/10.1097/ta.00000000001842

Zakrison, T. L., Ruiz, X., Gelbard, R., Cline, J., Turay, D., Luo-Owen, X., Namias, N., Crandall, M., George, J., & Williams, B. H. (2017). Universal screening for intimate partner and sexual violence in trauma patients. *Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery*, 83(1), 105–110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/ta.000000000001495</u>

#### Appendix A

Literature Review Table

Reference	Design	Subjects and Settings	Intervention	Outcomes	Quality and Limitations	Themes
Bazargan-Hejazi et al., 2014)	Cross-sectional study	Inner city ED Survey	Survey by method of interview, using the 5- to 10-min "Five Steps in Screening for IPV"	No significant differences in gender, age, significant associations in the IPV group with binge drinking, and childhood experiences of observing parental violence.	III A Inability to generalize. Small sample size of IPV population, data was self- reported.	Face-to-face screening
(Chapin et al., 2011)	Quasi- experimental	A large hospital system in Pennsylvania. Sample included: medical students (76%), nurses (22%) and	Self-efficacy, knowledge of services, obstacles to victims leaving, access to services, and usefulness of screening tools was measured	Age, gender, or hospital position did not affect self- efficacy. Participants were better informed after IPV training about IPV services and	II A A convenience study	Education

Reference	Design	Subjects and Settings	Intervention	Outcomes	Quality and Limitations	Themes
	-	administrators (2%)	following IPV training. Responses were on a Likert-type scale	obstacles faced by victims. Self-efficacy predicted successful goal attainment.		
(Choo, and Nicolaidis, et al., 2012)	Observational study.	Oregon EDs	Billing data, survey results, and hospital- level variables were combined. Likelihood of receiving a diagnosis of IPV depending on the policies and services available was assessed.	Mandatory IPV screening and victim advocates were the most commonly available IPV resources. IPV was diagnosed independently with the use of a standardized intervention checklist (odds ratio: 1.71; 95 % CI: 1.04 – 2.82). Public displays of IPV material were negatively associated with IPV diagnosis (OR 0.56; 95	III A/B The primary outcome of the study (IPV diagnosis) was reliant on documentation and coding.	Face-to-face screening

Reference	Design	Subjects and Settings	Intervention	Outcomes %: CI 0.35 –	Quality and Limitations	Themes
				0.88).		
(Choo et al., 2015)	Qualitative	A single, urban, academic ED in the northeastern U.S/women with histories of partner and drug use	One-on-one semi- structured interviews via computer to detect partner abuse using the Women's Abuse Screening Tool (WAST).	Computer- based drug use and partner abuse screening in the ED was effective and could shield them from embarrassment and fear.	III A/B Access to technology, findings may not be generalizable to rural women. Convenience study.	Computer- based screening
(Choo, and Ranney, et al.,2012)	Systematic review of observational and experimental studies, including 2 RCTs.	Studies regarding use of computer- based technologies for ED-based screening, interventions, or referrals for high-risk health behaviors	Systematic search using Downs and Blacks instrument	Studies showed high acceptability and feasibility of individual computer innovations.	III A Study quality varied greatly. Lacking well- validated quality assessment instruments.	Computer- based screening

Reference	Design	Subjects and Settings	Intervention	Outcomes	Quality and	Themes
(Delgado et al., 2011)	Non-experimental Quantitative	randomly sampled 350 (7%) of 4,874 EDs across the US. 277 EDs responded to the survey across 46 states.	Survey inquiring if a system is in place for identifying IPV, if not, could this service be rendered with your current staff and funding?	Cost, increased ED length of stay, resource allocation, and inadequate access to follow-up are barriers to implementation. 1 /3 of hospitals are not meeting JCAHO mandates for IPV screening.	III A May not be generalizable to high volume urban EDs. Survey questions and terminology have not been validated in previous research.	Focus on the importance of screening and JCAHO requirements and awareness of failure to meet benchmarks.
(DiVietro et al., 2018)	Quasi- experimental, epidemiologic study	586 eligible trauma patients from a level 1 trauma center	Conflict Tactics Scale- 2 (CTS-2) computerized screening vs in person screening using the E- HITS/HITS screening tool.	More positive screenings with the computerized screening tool than with the in-person screening tool and more positive screenings with the 2 tools used together.	II A Only trauma patients were used in this study.	Dual-method screening combined face to face screening and computer- based screening.

Reference	Design	Subjects and Settings	Intervention	Outcomes	Quality and Limitations	Themes
(Hugl-Wajek et al., 2012)	retrospective review	Female patients Level I trauma center with over 80,000 patient visits yearly	Interview with a trained DV advocacy coordinator	The incidence of DV was calculated to be 4.8%. The use of a trained DV coordinator may improve detection rates of domestic violence in the ED.	II B The DV advocate's method of screening was not standardized, and tool's validity and reliability were not discussed.	Education
(Perciaccante, and Carey, et al., 2010)	Cross sectional study design	Women who presented to a level 1 trauma ED in Atlanta, GA for injuries with non- verifiable etiology.	Combined injury location with interview screening using the PVS or WAST tool.	Combining information regarding injury location and the results of a screening questionnaire was a better predictor of a woman's likelihood to report IPV- related injuries than either modality alone.	III A Sample was 90- 95 % African American which may have an impact on IPV self- reporting rates. Interviewing times was based on the availability of the interviewers.	Dual-method approach. combined face-to-face screening and presentation to the ED (location of injuries).

Reference (Perciaccante, and Susarla, et al., 2010)	Design Cross sectional study design	Subjects and Settings Women who presented to a level 1 trauma ED in Atlanta, GA for injuries with non- verifiable etiology. The study sample was divided randomly into index and validation sets.	Intervention The predictor study variables were injury location (head, neck, or face vs other), responses to a verbal questionnaire (PVS or WAST) and combining both elements. The probability for IPV-related injury was	Outcomes The index set was used to develop the diagnostic protocol which combined the Women Abuse Screening Tool (WAST) questionnaire with injury location and was proven to have good to excellent internal validity.	Quality and Limitations III A Sample was 90 -95 % African American which may have an impact on IPV self- reporting rates.	Themes Dual-method approach combined presentation to ED (injury location) with a face- to-face screening
(Randell et al., 2018)	Cross sectional study design	Female victims of IPV in a semi-rural Midwestern County: One ED is a level 1 urban trauma center,	classified as high or low. IPV poster and pamphlets that convey hope compared to traditional posters that show graphic images or texts.	Posters did not encourage or discourage patients from being screened for IPV. Personal history of IPV was the biggest	III A Generalizability is limited by recruitment within a single institution, lack of data on those	Education (of patients)

Reference	Design	Subjects and Settings 1 suburban community ED, and 1 subspecialty clinics. Total of 130,000 patient care visits annually	Intervention	Outcomes determination of willingness to be screened.	Quality and Limitations who did not participate.	Themes
(Rhodes et al., 2011)	Retrospective longitudinal cohort study	Female victims of IPV in a semi-rural Midwestern County.	County-wide ED and criminal justice records for all female IPV victims identified by police and prosecutors were examined.	When police brought the victims to the ED, the odds that IPV would be noted by ED staff were doubled. Referrals almost always occurred when a social worker was involved.	II A Retrospective study and IPV cases that did not reach the level of a police report were not captured.	ED presentation Identification of IPV related to ED presentation
(Robinson, 2010)	phenomenological qualitative	ED nurses from a mid- sized urban county in the	A structured open-ended interview technique was	Only 5 nurses could recall formal education on	III A/B Small sample, does not represent all ED nurses	Education

Reference	Design	Subjects and Settings	Intervention	Outcomes	Quality and Limitations	Themes
		South-Central United States	used consisting of 10 primary questions. Significant statements from the interviews were formulated into meanings and then categorized into themes.	IPV, and only 3 could recall any continuing education on IPV. Most do not screen for IPV and do not believe it is necessary. Many were unaware of written policies and regulations regarding mandatory reporting IPV.		
(Rodriguez, 2019)	Cross sectional study design	Clients of Sojourner Family Peace Center in Milwaukee, WI. Serving over 9500 victims per year	22 questions assessing women's encounters with screening and treatment for domestic violence in the ED. Questions range from	IPV screening must be done with no family present. Removing law enforcement from rooms is recommended. Standardizing screening could aid in making IPV victims	III A Small Sample Size	Face-to-face screening and education

Reference	Design	Subjects and Settings	Intervention yes/no to open-ended.	Outcomes feel less rushed and more at ease.	Quality and Limitations	Themes
(Schrager et al., 2013)	prospective cohort study	All female adult patients. 3 urban EDs, using a computer kiosk to deliver targeted education about IPV to provide referrals to local resources.	Participants who screened positive on the UVPSP completed the danger assessment (DA) instrument at a kiosk and assigned a baseline stage of change using the University of Rhode Island Change Assessment (URICA) scale and assessed at 1 week and 3 months to assess safety behaviors to prevent further IPV.	ED-based kiosk screening and is a feasible method of disseminating health information for women experiencing IPV and associated with a high proportion of participants taking protective action following the computer-based screening and intervention.	II A Random sampling of women in the triage waiting area; does not fully capture the IPV population.	Computer- based screening

Reference	Design	Subjects and Settings	Intervention	Outcomes	Quality and Limitations	Themes
(Scribano et al., 2011)	prospective cohort study	Computerized screenings in an Urban pediatric ED	Computerized home safety screening kiosks were developed using touch- screen technology (Health eTouch).	14 % of the computerized screens were positive for IPV (similar prevalence rate, 4 % - 25 %). Allows unobtrusive, private screening for IPV.	II B IPV screening tool reliability and validity were not discussed. The screening process was modified during the study which could have skewed screening rates. Data not provided prior to implementation.	Computer- based screening
(Williams et al., 2016)	epidemiologic, cross-sectional, observational study	Healthcare facilities in a large metropolitan area in the USA	In-depth interviews with individuals knowledgeable about IPV screening and response	Need for procedural guidance, formal screening tools, education for providers and patients, local resources.	III A/B Small number of nurse participants in the study only 3 were nurses. No measure to the fidelity of the	Education

|--|

Reference	Design	Subjects and Settings	Intervention within their facility.	Outcomes	Quality and Limitations policies and procedures.	Themes
(Wolff et al., 2017)	Quasi- experimental	Patients in a US urban ED setting that screened positive	Face-to-face PVS conducted to assess for IPV victimization then randomly assigned into a basic or enhanced referral group.	20 % of participants screened positive for IPV. Both male and female victims of IPV had greater odds of contacting behavioral health resources with the enhanced referral. 74% of the enhanced referral group contacted services compared to 16% the basic referral group.	II A PVS does not screen for psychological abuse. A convenience sample was used. This study was not fully blind.	Face-to-face screening Identification of IPV related to ED presentation (recidivism)
(Yau et al., 2013)	Retrospective chart review	New York City Department	ED visits due to injuries inflicted by a	IPV victims were more likely to be	III A	Identification of IPV related to ED

Reference	Design	Subjects and Settings	Intervention	Outcomes	Quality and Limitations	Themes
		of Health and Mental Hygiene's Injury Surveillance System data from at least 20 public and private EDs.	spouse, ex- spouse, boyfriend, girlfriend, ex- boyfriend, or ex-girlfriend – as documented in the ED chart – were considered IPV-related assaults.	assaulted at home, have multiple injuries, head, and trunk injuries; location may be an efficient, effective complement to current IPV screening practices.	Data incompleteness is noteworthy but expected and is a reality of chart review- based surveillance.	presentation (injury location)
(Zakrison et al., 2018)	cross-sectional	Trauma patients at 4 level I trauma centers throughout the US	Universal screening of adult trauma patients using the validated HITS and SAVE (sexual violence) screening surveys.	Men are at similar risk for physical abuse as women for IPV. Center with dedicated behavioral psychologists performing the screenings had the highest rate of IPV positive screens for both men and women.	III A Variability depended on who performed the screening, what patients were screened for, and where the screening took place.	Face-to-face screening and Education
# IPV Assessment Program Evaluation

Reference	Design	Subjects and Settings	Intervention	Outcomes	Quality and Limitations	Themes
(Zakrison et al., 2017)	Cross sectional study design	Trauma patients at 4 level I trauma centers throughout the US	Universal screening using the validated HITS and SAVE (sexual violence) screening surveys done by clinical social workers, behavioral psychologists, or trauma RNs.	Patients who screened positive for IPSV (intimate partner sexual violence) have higher rates of trauma co- morbidities, including substance abuse, mental illness and at higher risk of trauma recidivism	II A Variability depended on who performed the screening, what patients were screened for, and where the screening took place.	Dual method approach: Identification of IPV related to ED presentation (trauma recidivism) and face-to- face screening

#### **Appendix B**

## Intimate Partner Violence (IPV) Screening Program Evaluation

#### **Executive Summary**

#### Situation

• Total of 21 IPV screens from Jan 2019 to Dec 2021 in the emergency department (ED).

### Background

- 1. **The Joint Commission standard:** Hospitals are mandated to implement policies and procedures that allow for early identification and referral of IPV.
- ED Policy 0213: Screen all patients for abuse and neglect. Refer all suspected cases to Social Work.
- HITS screening tool is recommended by the American College of Surgeons Trauma Quality Programs Best Practices Guidelines For Trauma Center Recognition Of Child Abuse, Elder Abuse, and IPV.

#### Assessment

- 1. Compliance with IPV screening does not meet TJC requirement or ED unit policy.
- 2. IPV screening tools are difficult to locate in EPIC.
- 3. IPV screening is currently not included in the ED orientation.

#### Recommendations

- 1. Embed HITS tool in the EHR nursing adult assessment form in the EHR.
- Create a "hard stop" for HITS screen in the adult assessment form with a comment section.

- Create an option of "screening not done at this time" in the EHR with a drop-down menu. The dropdown list of reasons for deferment are:
  - a. "patient refused"
  - b. "patient medically unable or unavailable"
  - c. "unable to safely screen patient at this time"
  - d. "patient altered, unable to screen at this time".
- 4. Score each HITS modified screening question from 0 to 4 creating a score range of 0 to 16. A score of greater or equal to six in females and a score of greater or equal to seven in males classifies as being victimized. There are 4 questions on the HITS-modified and the scale ranges from never (0) to frequently (4).
- Place automatic consult order in the EHR with pop-up for social worker consult if HITS score greater or equal to one. The HITS screenings will be performed by the bedside nurse.
- Place automatic consult order in EHR with pop-up for both social workers and FNEs for HITS score greater or equal to six (at risk for IPV).
- Place flag in the EHR to be triggered by the triage nurse when a patient is suspected of abuse so a safe and more private environment can be provided.
- 8. Include IPV screening training including the HITS-modified tool in multidisciplinary ED unit orientation to include how, where, and when to screen, and where to document the screening. The training should include how to use the HITS-modified tool and emphasize the importance of screening patients away from friends and family
- Perform an annual evaluation of IPV screening in trauma and non-trauma patients admitted to the ED.